
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

February 6, 2024 9:00 am 
pppp.M. 

 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar 

 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr  

 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations 

 

a) Presentation of a Proclamation recognizing February 16, 2024 as Arbor Day in the 

City of Statesboro and recognition of the City’s participation in the Tree City USA 

program.  

 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 

 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 01-16-2024 Work Session Minutes 

b) 01-16-2024 Council Minutes 

c) 01-16-2024 Executive Session Minutes 

 

6. Public Hearing & Consideration of a Motion to approve application for an alcohol license 

in accordance with The City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a): 

 

a) Orchid 

Fair Road 

License Type: Restaurant 

 

b) Oak 45 

East Main Street 

License Type: Bar  

 

7. Consideration of a motion to approve a proximity waiver pursuant to the City of 

Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-5 (o) in order to consider the issuance of a pub 

license to The Pour House located at 25 West Main Street.   

 

8. Public Hearing & Consideration of a Motion to approve application for an alcohol license 

in accordance with The City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a): 

 

a) The Pour House  

25 West Main Street 

License Type: Pub 

 



 

 

9. Consideration of a motion to approve the award of a Department owned firearm to 

retiring Deputy Chief Rob Bryan.  

 

10. Consideration of a motion to award the purchase of a new 2023 or newer Ford F-350 4x2 

Crew Cab with a landscape body in an amount, not to exceed, $75,000.00. If approved, 

this will be purchased using funds from the GMA Lease Pool under CIP# PRK-4. 

 

11. Consideration of a motion to award the purchase of a new 2023 or newer Ford F-350 4x2 

Crew Cab with a service body in an amount, not to exceed,$75,000.00. If approved, this 

will be purchased using funds from the GMA Lease Pool under CIP# STS-74. 

 

12. Consideration of a motion to award the purchase of a new 2023 or newer Ford F-350 4x4 

Crew Cab with a service body, not to exceed, $67,000.00. If approved, this will be 

purchased using funds from the GMA Lease Pool under CIP# STS-80. 

 

13. Consideration of a motion to award a contract to Deere & Company for the purchase of a 

John Deere 317G Compact Track Loader per Sourcewell cooperative purchasing contract 

in the amount of $71,864.06. This item to be purchased with funds approved in the 2023 

CIP Budget, item #WTP-23, funded by water/sewer system revenues. 

 

14. Other Business from City Council 

 

15.  City Managers Comments 

 

16. Public Comments (General) 

 

17. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 

“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 

 

18. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



CITY  OF  STATESBORO

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari R Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • www.statesboroga.gov 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager 
Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 

From: John Washington, Public Works / Engineering Director 

Date: January 4, 2024 

RE: Arbor Day Proclamation and Tree City USA Recognition 

Recommendation: 
The Statesboro Tree Board requests two items to present on the February 6, 2024 City Council meeting 
agenda. A proclamation to recognize Arbor Day 2024 in the City of Statesboro. Also, recognition of the 
City of Statesboro’s participation in the Tree City USA program. Tree Board Chairman, Shawn Diddie, has 
requested that members of the Tree Board accept the proclamation and has indicated that Georgia 
Forestry, Chief Ranger, Paul Kitchens, will present the Mayor and Tree Board with a Tree City USA flag. 

Attachments: 
Arbor Day Proclamation 



A ProclAmAtion by the mAyor And 
city council of StAteSboro, GeorGiA 

 
 

ARBOR DAY 
 

WHEREAS:  In 1872, J Sterling Morton proposed to the Nebraska Board of Agriculture that a 
special day be set aside for the planting of trees, and   

 

WHEREAS:  The holiday, called Arbor Day, was first observed with the planting of more than a 
million trees in Nebraska, and   

 

WHEREAS: Arbor Day is now observed throughout the nation and the world, and  
 

WHEREAS: trees can reduce the erosion of our topsoil by wind and water, lower our heating 
and cooling costs, moderate the temperature, clean the air, produce oxygen and 
provide habitat for wildlife , and   

 

WHEREAS: trees are a renewable resource giving us paper, wood for our homes, fuel for our 
fires and countless other wood products, and 

 

WHEREAS: trees in our City increase property values, enhance the economic vitality of business 
areas, and beautify our community, and    

 

WHEREAS: trees wherever they are planted, are a source of joy and spiritual renewal,   
   

NOW, THEREFORE I, Jonathan McCollar, Mayor of the City of Statesboro do hereby 
proclaim February 16th, 2024 as   

 

ARBOR DAY 
 
In the City of Statesboro, and I urge all citizens to celebrate Arbor Day and to support efforts 
to protect our trees and woodlands, and   
 
FURTHER, I urge all citizens to plant and care for trees to gladden the heart and promote 
the well-being of this and future generations. 

 
               

        Dated this 6th day of February in the Year 2024 
 
 

 ______________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor   



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
WORK SESSION MINUTES 

JANUARY 16, 2024 
 
Mayor & Council Work Session                    50 East Main Street                                                         4:00 PM 
 
A Work Session of the Statesboro City Council was held on January 16, 2024 at 4:00 p.m. in the Council 
Chambers at City Hall, 50 East Main Street. Present was Mayor Jonathan McCollar; Council Members: Phil 
Boyum, Paulette Chavers, Ginny Hendly, John Riggs, and Shari Barr. Also present was City Clerk Leah 
Harden, City Attorney Cain Smith, City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles and 
Public Information Officer Layne Phillips.  
 
 

1. Whitesville Park Assessment and Improvement Plan 
Director of Public Works and Engineering John Washington presented the Whitesville Park Assessment and 
Improvement Plan beginning with a map of the parks existing conditions. The estimated cost for the proposed plan is 
$1,850,000.00 and includes improvements to Raymond Street Ext., pervious pavement parking area, playground, 
restroom building, walking trail, pavilions, community garden, landscaping, lighting and security, and a resurfaced 
basketball court. The city is applying for a community development block grant which has a maximum award of 
1,250,000.00. The application is due in April and will be awarded in October. Other funding sources are TSPLOST in 
the amount of $300,000 and ARPA funds in the amount of $200,000. If the city is awarded the CDBG the design for the 
park is slated to be completed April 2025 with construction completion slated for March 2026. If the city is not awarded 
the grant park improvements will be done through a phased approach. Beginning with the removal of the restrooms 
building, the installation of a new pavilion, walking trail, resurface basketball court, installation benches and tables, 
community garden, landscaping and lighting and security. Other funding options include capital debt financing or pay 
as you go.   
  

2. Housing Rehabilitation Update 
The housing rehabilitation program began in 2022 with the authorization of the use of $500,000 in ARPA funding. The 
program authorized the rehabilitation of eligible owner occupied homes within the City’s designated Urban 
Redevelopment Area. There were a total of 83 applications received during the application period and many inquires 
after the fact. The assistance policy set a cap of $50,000 per rehab with an option to allow for $70 per square foot per 
rehab. These numbers seemed good at the time but with the existing housing market the cost for rehab has increased and 
caused a number of the projects to be rebid. Back in 2023 Council earmarked $450,000 of interest from the ARPA funds 
to be utilized for the reconstruction of 3 homes. As of today staff has awarded contracts for approximately $1,822,326 
which includes the $450,000 for reconstruction. The next bid package is slated to go out in early February and there are 
four homes nearing completion.  

 
 

3. Art Park – Selection of Art/Process 
Assistant to the City Manager Olympia Gaines stated the Art Park is a place which will showcase sculptures on a rotating 
basis. The idea is to have these sculptures loaned to the City for a period of two years. When the two years are finished 
the City could return the sculptures or purchase them to be displayed along the Willie McTell trail. A committed would 
need to be established and be comprised of 3-5 representatives from the Averitt Center, Betty Foy Sanders Art 
Department, SCVB, and a local artist. A city staff member would be assigned as a liaison and a member of the DSDA 
would serve as an ex-officio member. The estimated cost for each sculpture could range from $1,000 - $2,000 per year 
as a loan fee. The funding would be a part of the City’s annual budget. The goal is to promote sustainability, creativity, 
and innovation. Art pieces should be long lasting with little upkeep and suited for local weather conditions. They will 
also incorporate a variety of media, styles, and experiences. The timeline is to have the art committee issue a call for art 



by early spring 2024 with art installation taking place in May 2024. A ribbon cutting would be scheduled after the art is 
installed. Councilmember Shari Barr asked on behalf of Councilmember Phil Boyum for the council to budget $40,000 
annually starting next fiscal year for a sculpture contest. The second request would be the city maintains oversight of the 
process even if the Averitt is involved in the handling of it in order to ensure the stability project. Olympia stated it takes 
3-6 months to issue a call, also what that funding will look like. City Manager Charles Penny stated that once everything 
is finalized it will be brought back before council. 
 

4. Proximity Issue in Central Business District 
City Attorney Cain Smith began his presentation with City Ordinance Chapter 6 section 7(e) which sets proximity 
requirement for issuance of on premise consumption alcohol licenses. This regulation is entirely at local government 
discretion pursuant to OCGA 3-3-21(b)(3). The City’s current regulation prohibits the issuance of on premise licenses 
with 100 yards of a church or educational facility. However council may grant proximity waivers for restaurants, pubs, 
and low volume licenses. A proximity waiver is not allowed for bars or bars with kitchens which makes if nearly 
impossible for such establishments to exist throughout a significant portion of downtown Statesboro. The city has had 
many contacts from potential business owners wanting to open a bar or bar with kitchen in downtown but the current 
ordinance prevents staff action. Applications for these establishments in most of the downtown area cannot be brought 
before Council due to the distance requirements and not having an option for proximity waivers. There are a couple of 
options council could consider, one would be to eliminate this prohibition in all or a portion of the Central Business 
District downtown, two allow council to consider proximity waivers for bars and bars with kitchen in the Central 
Business District, or three leave the ordinance as it currently stands. Mr. Smith presented a map of the open container 
area in downtown. City Manager Charles Penny asked council to look at the area and think about the possibilities, and 
will be brought back before council for another presentation.  
 
The meeting was adjourned at 5:17 pm. 
 

______________________________ 
                                                                                                                   Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 
______________________________ 

                                                                                                                Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
 

 



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
COUNCIL MINUTES 
JANUARY 16, 2024 

1 
 

 
Regular Meeting                         50 E. Main St. City Hall Council Chambers                                      5:30 PM 
 

1. Call to Order 
 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting to order  

 
2. Invocation and Pledge 

 
City Manager Charles Penny gave the invocation and Councilmember John Riggs led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
ATTENDENCE  

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 
Jonathan McCollar Mayor Present   
Phil Boyum Councilmember Absent    
Paulette Chavers Councilmember Present  
Ginny Hendley Councilmember Present  
John Riggs Councilmember Present   
Shari Barr Mayor Pro Tem  Present  

 
Other staff present: City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles, Public Information Officer 
Layne Phillips, City Attorney Cain Smith and City Clerk Leah Harden 

 
3. Recognitions / Public Presentation: 

 
a) Presentation and update from Don Poe with Feed the Boro.  

 
Don Poe with Feed the Boro announced that at the next food drop on February 3rd they will exceed giving away over 2 
million meals in the Bulloch County region. Mr. Poe thanked Mayor and Council for their help and support to help make 
this happen. 
 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar recognized and presented an ICMA award to City Manager Charles Penny in recognition of 
his 40 years of service in local government. Mayor McCollar thanked Mr. Penny for his committed service to the City 
of Statesboro its employees and its citizens.  
    

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item):  None 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 01-02-2024 Council Minutes 
B) Consideration of a motion to approve the surplus of equipment and vehicles in the 

Statesboro Fire Department 
 
 



2 
 

A motion was made to approve the consent agenda.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

6. Public hearing and consideration of a motion to approve 
(a) APPLICATION AN 23-11-05: Four Guys development, LLC requests annexation of 

approximately 26.94 acres of property in order to construct a single-family detached 
subdivision on Burkhalter Road (Tax Parcel #108 000001 000). 

(b) APPLICATION RZ 23-11-06: Four Guys Development, LLC requests a Zoning Map 
Amendment from the R-40 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district to the R-4 (High-
Density Residential) zoning district on approximately 26.94 acres of property in order to 
develop a single-family detached subdivision on Burkhalter Road (Tax Parcel# 108 00001 
000). 

 
A motion was made to open the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
Steve Rushing a local attorney representing the applicant spoke in favor of the request.  
No one spoke against the request. 
 
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Ginny Hendley 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



 

3 
 

A motion was made to approve (a) APPLICATION AN 23-11-05: Four Guys development, LLC requests annexation 
of approximately 26.94 acres of property in order to construct a single-family detached subdivision on Burkhalter Road 
(Tax Parcel #108 000001 000) and (b) APPLICATION RZ 23-11-06: Four Guys Development, LLC requests a Zoning 
Map Amendment from the R-40 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district to the R-4 (High-Density Residential) 
zoning district on approximately 26.94 acres of property in order to develop a single-family detached subdivision on 
Burkhalter Road (Tax Parcel# 108 00001 000). 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

7. Public hearing and consideration of a Motion to Approve: 
 

(a) APPLICATION AN 23-09-06: Five Guys Development requests Annexation of 
approximately 113.4 acres of property located at 6922 Burkhalter Road in order to 
construct a mixed single-family detached and townhouse subdivision (Tax Parcel # 108 
000002 000). 

 
(b) APPLICATION RZ 23-09-07: Five Guys Development requests a Zoning Map 

Amendment from the R-40 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district to the R-2 
(Townhouse Residential) zoning district of approximately 113.4 acres of property in order 
to construct a 335 unit mixed single-family detached and townhouse subdivision at 6922 
Burkhalter Road (Tax Parcel # 108 000002 000). 

 
A motion was made to open the public hearing.     
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
Steve Rushing a local attorney representing the applicant spoke in favor of the request.  
 
Tiffany Ross, Dr. Latasha Powell, and Mandy Parrish all of whom live in Chatham Place subdivision voiced their 
concerns regarding the infrastructure of Herman Rushing Road as well as the impact this development may have on their 
water system.  

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  

Councilmember 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



4 
 

City Manager Charles Penny stated that the city has requested a meeting with the county to discuss improvements to the 
Burkhalter Road where it comes up to highway 67. There will be no impact on the water system of Chatham Place as 
this development will have City water and sewer infrastructure.  
 
A Motion was made to close the public hearing.  
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
A Motion was made to approve (a) APPLICATION AN 23-09-06: Five Guys Development requests Annexation of 
approximately 113.4 acres of property located at 6922 Burkhalter Road in order to construct a mixed single-family 
detached and townhouse subdivision (Tax Parcel # 108 000002 000) and (b) APPLICATION RZ 23-09-07: Five Guys 
Development requests a Zoning Map Amendment from the R-40 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district to the R-2 
(Townhouse Residential) zoning district of approximately 113.4 acres of property in order to construct a 335 unit mixed 
single-family detached and townhouse subdivision at 6922 Burkhalter Road (Tax Parcel # 108 000002 000). 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

8. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION RZ 23-12-01: 
Christina Gipson requests a Zoning Map Amendment from the LI (Light Industrial) zoning 
district to the MX (Mixed Used) zoning district in order to establish a recreational/fitness 
facility at 202 West Main Street (Tax Parcel # S18 000173 000). 
 

A Motion was made to open the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  

Councilmember 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



 

5 
 

No one spoke for or against the request.  
 
A Motion was made to close the public hearing.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
A Motion was made to approve APPLICATION RZ 23-12-01: Christina Gipson requests a Zoning Map Amendment 
from the LI (Light Industrial) zoning district to the MX (Mixed Used) zoning district in order to establish a 
recreational/fitness facility at 202 West Main Street (Tax Parcel # S18 000173 000). 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

9. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION SUB 23-12-02: 
Robbie Bell requests a Preliminary Subdivision PLAT on 54.17 acres of property to develop 
52 additional lots in the existing Northbridge Subdivision located on South Bridgeport Drive 
(Tax Parcel MS80000013 000). 

 
A Motion was made to open the public hearing.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
Wes Sherrod with Parker Engineering representing the application spoke in favor of the request.  
 
No one spoke against the request.  

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



6 
 

A Motion was made to close the public hearing.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
A motion was made to approve APPLICATION SUB 23-12-02: Robbie Bell requests a Preliminary Subdivision PLAT 
on 54.17 acres of property to develop 52 additional lots in the existing Northbridge Subdivision located on South 
Bridgeport Drive (Tax Parcel MS80000013 000). 
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

10. Consideration of a motion to approve corrected Resolution 2023-52: A Resolution authorizing 
the opening of a separate bank account for the 2023 TSPLOST. 

 
A motion was made to approve corrected Resolution 2023-52: A Resolution authorizing the opening of a separate bank 
account for the 2023 TSPLOST. 
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Ginny Hendley 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



 

7 
 

11. Public Hearing and consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2024-01: A Resolution 
approving application for FY 2025 Community Development Block Grant (CDBG). 
  

A motion was made to open the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
Director of Planning and Development stated this public hearing is a requirement for the city to apply for the Community 
Development Block Grant.  
 
No one spoke for or against the request.   
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing.  
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
A motion was made to approve Resolution 2024-01: A Resolution approving application for FY 2025 Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG). 
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Ginny Hendley 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



8 
 

12. Public Hearing & Consideration of a Motion to approve application for an alcohol license in 
accordance with The City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a): 

 
(a) Dixie Food Mart 

1495 Northside Dr East 
Statesboro, Ga 30458 
License Type: Package Sales – Beer and Wine only 
 

(b) Jim N Nicks BBQ #4054 
24106 Hwy 80 East 
Statesboro, Ga 30461 
License Type: Restaurant  
 

(c) Stoners Pizza Joint 
701 Piedmont Loop Ste 200 
Statesboro, Ga 30458 
License Type: Restaurant 

 
 

A motion was made to open the public hearing.  
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
No one spoke for or against the request.  
 
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing.  
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Ginny Hendley 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs  

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



 

9 
 

A motion was made to approve an application for an alcohol license for (a) Dixie Food Mart, 1495 Northside Dr East 
Statesboro, Ga 30458, License Type: Package Sales – Beer and Wine only; (b) Jim N Nicks BBQ #4054, 24106 Hwy 
80 East, Statesboro, Ga 30461, License Type: Restaurant; and (c) Stoners Pizza Joint, 701 Piedmont Loop Ste 200, 
Statesboro, Ga 30458, License Type: Restaurant. 
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

13. Consideration of a motion to award the purchase of a new 2022 or later Ram 1500 (or 
equivalent) crew cab 4x4 truck not to exceed $50,000.00 for the Wastewater Treatment Plant 
division of the Public Utilities Department. If approved, this vehicle will be funded using 
operating income from the Water and Sewer Fund. 
 

A motion was made to award the purchase of a new 2022 or later Ram 1500 (or equivalent) crew cab 4x4 truck not to 
exceed $50,000.00 for the Wastewater Treatment Plant division of the Public Utilities Department. If approved, this 
vehicle will be funded using operating income from the Water and Sewer Fund.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

14. Consideration of a motion to award a contract to Tim Lanier Construction, LLC in the amount 
of $242,950.00 for the East Grady Street Sidewalk Improvements Project. This project will be 
funded from the 2018 TSPLOST Fund. 

A motion was made to award a contract to Tim Lanier Construction, LLC in the amount of $242,950.00 for the East 
Grady Street Sidewalk Improvements Project. This project will be funded from the 2018 TSPLOST Fund.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Ginny Hendley 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Ginny Hendley 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



10 
 

  
15. Consideration of a motion to award a professional services contract to WSP USA, Inc in the 

amount of $149,000.00 to perform a Phase 1 Environmental Site Assessment, Site Suitability 
Study, and develop a Design & Operations Plan for expansion of the inert landfill. Funding is 
to be provided by Operating Income in the Solid Waste Disposal Fund. 
 

A motion was made to award a professional services contract to WSP USA, Inc in the amount of $149,000.00 to perform 
a Phase 1 Environmental Site Assessment, Site Suitability Study, and develop a Design & Operations Plan for expansion 
of the inert landfill. Funding is to be provided by Operating Income in the Solid Waste Disposal Fund.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

16. Other Business from City Council 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Shari shared that a family resource day will be held this Saturday January 20, 2024 from 10:00 am – 
3:00 pm at the STEM Academy.  
Mayor McCollar called on Dwayne Grice to share about warming stations.  
Dwayne Grice shared that this morning Ted Wynn asked VOAD to consider opening up warming stations in our 
community due to the cold weather coming into our area. There will be a warming station opened tonight and Wednesday 
at Pittman Park Church. On Thursday it is supposed to warm up but Friday and Saturday will be colder with wind chills 
in the single digits so an additional warming shelter will be open at First Presbyterian Church. The warming stations will 
open at 6 pm each evening and remain open until the following day when it gets above freezing.  
Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr stated that on January 22 the local community mission will be conducting a point in time 
census of the local Bulloch County area unhoused individuals. The census will begin at 6:00 pm until 10:00 pm. the 
information they gather is used to develop services to meet the needs of the unhoused in our area.  
Councilmember John Riggs recognized two upcoming Eagle Scouts in the audience Evan Taormina and Rick Newell.  
 
 

17. City Managers Comments 
 
City Manager Charles Penny called to Mayor and Councils attention in the FYI packet staff did respond to the bike lane 
request. It is an ongoing process. Mr. Penny stated that a building permit has been issued for the Food Bank and they are 
working on the foundation. We are hoping to be open and operational by the summer.    
   

18. Public Comments (General):  
 

Sue Palmer signed up to speak and asked that the city consider looking into designated truck routes in the city. 
Len Fatica signed up to speak and asked Council to consider extending the public comment(s) time from 2 minutes to 4 
minutes. 
Michael Pratt asked about mobile public vending.  
City Clerk Leah Harden stated that the city did pass mobile public vending and that Mr. Pratt would need fill out the 
application for it.  
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Ginny Hendley 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



 

11 
 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr stated she would like to offer a motion and see if there is support to ask staff to change the 
resolution so we can offer everyone four minutes for public comments. Councilmember Paulette Chavers stated she 
believes in hearing what everyone has to say but five minutes is too long and would meet in the middle at three minutes.  
 
A motion was made to approve a Resolution increasing the time for public comments from two (2) minutes to three (3) 
minutes. 
  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

19. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” in 
accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b). 

 
At 7:01 pm. a motion was made to enter into executive session.  
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
At 7:24 pm a motion was made to exit executive session.  
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



12 
 

A Motion was made to appoint AJ Jetwani, Larry Clark, Venus Mack, and Brandon Blair to the Business Commission.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

20. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
A motion was made to adjourn.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 7:25 pm. 
 
  

_______________________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 
_______________________________ 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Ginny Hendley 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Chavers, Hendley, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 



Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden 

From: Tax Department 

Date: 01/31/2024

RE: Orchid Asian Cuisine

Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall approve application in accordance with City of Statesboro Alcohol 
Ordinance Chapter 6-13 (a): 

No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any distilled 
spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer or malt beverages within the corporate limits of the City of 
Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been approved by the 
mayor and city council after a public hearing. 

Recommendation: Planning & Development, Fire Department, Police Department, and Legal 
recommended approval 

Budget Impact: None 

Council Person & District: Shari Barr, District 5

Attachments: Application & Department Approvals 





















Orchid Asian Cuisine
1525 Fair Rd Unit 104
Statesboro, Ga 30458

Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name.

Alcohol License Review

Department Full Name Recommendation Comments

Planning &
Development

Jermaine
Foster

Approved 01-19-2024 This location had a change of
ownership, no proximity map required

Fire Department Andrew
Cheney

Approved 1-29-2024

Police
Department

Jared
Akins

Approved

Legal Cain Smith Approved



Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Ginny Hendley, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden 

From: Tax Department 

Date: 01/31/2024

RE: Oak 45, LLC

Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall approve application in accordance with City of Statesboro Alcohol 
Ordinance Chapter 6-13 (a): 

No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any distilled 
spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer or malt beverages within the corporate limits of the City of 
Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been approved by the 
mayor and city council after a public hearing. 

Recommendation: Planning & Development, Fire Department, Police Department, and Legal 
recommended approval 

Budget Impact: None 

Council Person & District: Phil Boyum, District 1

Attachments: Application & Department Approvals 





















Oak 45
45 East Main St
Statesboro, Ga 30458

Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name.

Alcohol License Review

Department Full Name Recommendation Comments

Planning &
Development

Jermaine
Foster

Approved 01-24-2024 This location resubmitted their
proximity survey with specific proximity details.

311 feet from the nearest educational building

346 feet from the nearest church

This location is approved.

Fire Department Justin
Taylor

Approved Approval is for the request for alcohol sales
to be placed on the Council’s agenda only.
Final approval for the issuance of a business
and/or alcohol license will be contingent on a

passing fire and life safety inspection.
1/26/2024

Police
Department

Jared
Akins

Approved

Legal Cain Smith Approved



 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 
 
 
 
To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden 
 
From: Tax Department 
 
Date: 1/31/2024 
 
RE: The Pour House Pub- 25 West Main St  
 
Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall approve application for a distance waiver  in accordance with the 
City of Statesboro Code of Ordinances Chapter 6-5(o) and approve an application for an alcohol license in 
accordance with the City of Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance Chapter 6-13 (a): 
 
The mayor and city council, following application for a distance waiver permit for a Pub, notice and 
hearing, may in its discretion grant a distance waiver permit for Pub authorizing the issuance of a license 
to a licensee of a Pub notwithstanding the distance requirements in subsection 6-7(e) from school 
buildings, alcohol treatment centers, educational buildings on college campus, churches and/or property 
lines of a private dwelling located in single-family residential zoning district for locations that sell alcohol 
for consumption on the premises only. The application for a distance waiver permit shall be obtained as 
provided in the rules and regulations of the administration of this chapter. 
 
No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any distilled 
spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer or malt beverages within the corporate limits of the City of 
Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been approved by the 
mayor and city council after a public hearing. 
 
Recommendation: Planning & Development, Fire Department, Police Department, and Legal 
recommended approval 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person & District: Paulette Chavers, District 2 
 
Attachments: Application & Department Approvals 





























The Pour House Pub
25 West Main St
Statesboro, Ga 30458

Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name.

Alcohol License Review

Department Full Name Recommendation Comments

Planning &
Development

Jermaine
Foster

Approved 01-24-2024 This location is approved. This
location also submitted an alcohol proximity
waiver

Fire Department Andrew
Cheney

Approved 1-8-24

Police
Department

Jared
Akins

Approved

Legal Cain Smith Approved



  

TO:   Charles Penny, City Manager 

FROM:   Mike Broadhead, Chief of Police 

DATE:   February 6, 2024 

RE:   Surplus Retirement Firearm 

POLICY ISSUE:  Surplus Item 

RECOMMENDATION: That Council approve the award of a Department owned firearm to retiring 
Deputy Chief Rob Bryan. 

BACKGROUND: Historically, the police department has awarded a firearm to those 
members who have retired in good standing with more than 25 years of 
service.   This practice is specifically authorized by Georgia Statute 35-1-
20.  Deputy Chief Rob Bryan has announced his retirement from the police 
department after 25 years of exemplary service to the citizens of our 
community.   The pistol to be awarded to him is a Glock Model 17 with 
Serial Number #BERR254, and we would like to award him this pistol along 
with his retired credentials.  

BUDGET IMPACT: We are able to purchase these pistols for approximately $400 

COUNCIL DISTRICT: All 

 ATTACHMENTS: N/A 



 CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
TO:   Charles Penny, City Manager 
   Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
 
FROM:  Darren Prather, Director of Central Services 
 
DATE:   December 8, 2023 
 
RE:   Vehicle Purchase for the Public Works and Engineering Department 
 
POLICY ISSUE: Purchasing 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends the purchase of the following trucks for the Public Works and Engineering 
Department’s Streets and Parks Division not to exceed as follows: 

 
BACKGROUND:  
 
The Purchasing Division has made several attempts for written quotes concerning heavy duty trucks the 
last two (2) fiscal years.  Commercial dealerships and state contractors have participated in our process, 
but are unable to assist us because of the lack of availability or they are unable to place the vehicle on 
hold for an extended period. The cost for procuring work trucks have increased significantly.  These super 
duty trucks have specific requirements based on their use.  The high demand for these types of trucks in 
other parts of the country make it difficult to stock them in the southeast region.  Typically, they are not 
equipped with a service body.   
 
The three percent (3%) local and in-county vendor advantage will applied for local vendors and the 
apparent lowest written quote that meet the department’s requirements will be accepted.  The trucks and 
service body may be purchased separately.   
 
Budget Impact:   GMA Lease Pool under CIP# PRK-4 

GMA Lease Pool under CIP# STS-74 
GMA Lease Pool under CIP# STS-80 

 
Council Person and District:  All 
 
Attachments:  None 

Capital Improvement 
Program (CIP) 

VEHICLE COLOR NOT TO EXCEED 

PRK-4 New 2023 or newer Ford F-350 XL 4X2 
Crew Cab with a landscape body 

Oxford White $75,000 

STS-74 New 2023 or newer Ford F-350 XL 4X2 
Crew Cab with a service body 

Oxford White $75,000 

STS-80 New 2023 or newer Ford F-350 XL 4X4 
Crew Cab with service body 

Oxford White $67,000 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulett Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Jason Boyles 
      Assistant City Manager 
 
From: Steve Hotchkiss 
          Public Utilities Director 
 
Date: 1-30-2024 
 
RE: Compact Track Loader for the Waste Water Treatment Plant  
 
Policy Issue: Purchasing  
 
Recommendation: Consideration of a motion to award a contract to Deere & 
Company for the purchase of a John Deere 317G Compact Track Loader per 
Sourcewell cooperative purchasing contract in the amount of $71,864.06. This 
item to be purchased with funds approved in the 2023 CIP Budget, item #WTP-
23, funded by system revenues.  
 
Background: We are proposing to replace the existing 1993 Skid Steer Loader   
(31 years old) with a new unit, utilizing the Sourcewell cooperative purchasing 
contract. The existing loader is well past it useful life and is no longer reliable for 
daily use. The Loader will be purchased through Deere & Company and will be 
sold and serviced through our local distributor, Blanchard Equipment. The 
budget estimate was $80,000.00 however the unit came in significantly lower at 
$71,864.06. 
 
Budget Impact: Funds were approved in the 2023 CIP, #WTP-23, utilizing system 
revenues. 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
 
Attachments: Sourcewell Quote 








	02-06-2024 Council Agenda
	Arbor Day Proclamation 2024
	Arbor Day Council Memo_Proclamation 2024
	1-16-2024 Work Session Minutes
	01-16-2024 Council Minutes
	Orchid
	Orchid Cuisine memo
	Blue Mile Catering Memo 2 (1)

	Orchid Cuisine application
	Orchid Cuisine approval

	Oak 45
	Oak 45 memo
	Blue Mile Catering Memo 2 (1)

	Oak 45 alcohol
	Oak 45 approvals

	distance waiver memo for alcohol- the pour house
	the pour house waiver
	The Pour House
	Council Bryan Firearm
	PW.Vehicle Purchases For Council Agenda.F450
	skid steer loader wwtp 2024
	Deere & Company purchase



